IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

VICKI D. WHITE

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-78-01246 SCTT

JOHN R. WHITE

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1) Vicki D. White 10308 Trevino Lane Benbrook, Texas 76126
- John R. White
 123 South Fulton Street
 Iuka, Mississippi 38852
- 3) Honorable Kenneth Burns Chancery Court Judge Post Office Box 110 Okolona, Mississippi 38860

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. The Court erred in determining custody of Alexander in that the Court lacked jurisdiction over his custody determination.
 - a. Rusty failed to make the appropriate disclosures under oath as required by the U.C.C.J.E.A.
 - b. Mississippi had lost the exclusive and continuing jurisdiction over Alexander's custody determination and Mississippi was no longer the home state of Alexander.
 - c. The Court should have declined to exercise jurisdiction over Alexander's custody determination because Mississippi is an inconvenient forum under the circumstances and that the Texas is a more appropriate forum.
 - d. Even if the Mississippi Court had continuing jurisdiction over Alexander's custody determination, the Court should have declined to exercise its jurisdiction because Rusty, the person seeking to invoke the Court's jurisdiction, had engaged in unjustifiable conduct.
- 2. The Court erred in awarding Alexander's custody to Rusty.
 - a. The Court erred in finding a material change in circumstances as to Alexander.
 - b. Even if the Court was correct in finding that there had been a material change in circumstances as to Alexander, the Court failed to make any findings that the change in circumstances had any adverse effect upon Alexander.
 - c. The Court's findings as to those factors enumerated in Albright factors are

not supported by substantial evidence, or in the alternative the Court abused its discretion, was manifestly wrong, or clearly erroneous.

STATEMENT OF CASE

1. NATURE OF CASE

This matter is an appeal for that opinion and judgment entered by the Chancery Court of Tishomingo County, Mississippi, on May 16, 2008.

2. COURSE PROCEEDING

The parties of this matter were divorced by the Chancery Court of Tishomingo County, Mississippi by the entry of a Judgment of Divorce on January 16, 1998. As a result of the entry of the Divorce Decree, the parties shared joint-legal custody over their three (3) minor children with the physical custody of those children being placed with the Appellant (hereinafter referred to as "Vicki"). On May 1, 2003 the Appellee (hereinafter referred to as "Rusty") caused to be filed a Petition to Modify the Custody Provisions of the Divorce Decree, however no summons were ever issued to or served upon Vicki and there is no record of this Petition ever being called up for hearing or otherwise disposed of. On July 20, 2006 an Order Granting Emergency Relief was entered which modifies the custody of the parties three (3) minor children so as to place them in Rusty's custody and furthermore places a restraining order against Vicki restraining her from coming around Rusty's home or trying to remove the children from his care. Although the July 20, 2006 Order indicates that it was granted upon Rusty's "Motion to Modify Original Decree and Request for Emergency Order" there is no record of any such Motion having been filed nor any record of any notice, through summons or otherwise, having been given to Vicki of the proceedings. Furthermore, on July 20, 2006 Lisa Holley was appointed as Guardian Al Litem to represent the interest of the party's minor children.

On September 5, 2006, all Chancellors of the Chancery District entered an order recusing them from further involvement in the case. Subsequent to September 25, 2006, Rusty again filed a Petition for Modification, however there is no record that any summons were issued or served upon Vicki as it relates to this Petition nor was there any Affidavit or information provided by Rusty pursuant to Mississippi Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Act. On October 10, 2006, the Mississippi Supreme Court entered an Order appointing honorable Chancellor Kenneth Burns as special Chancellor for the purpose of hearing all subsequent matters in this case. On October 16, 2006, a petition was filed by Rusty requesting the Chancellor find Vicki in contempt of the Court's July 20, 2006 Order. There does not appear in the record any evidence of a summons ever being issued to or served upon Vicki as to this Petition. On October 16, 2006, an Order was entered by the Court finding Vicki to be in contempt of the Court and ordering her to return one of the three (3) minor children into Rusty's care. On November 22, 2006, a Motion was filed on behalf of Vicki to dissolve the Court's July 20, 2006 Emergency Order. It should be noted that Vicki's Motion includes information required by the Mississippi Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act and proper notice was given by Vicki's counsel to Rusty's attorney. On December 15, 2006, the Court entered an order setting aside the July 20, 2006 Emergency Order and reinstating the terms of the parties' original Divorce Decree and Rusty filed a Motion for Rule 65 Hearing. While it does appear that a summons was finally issued to Vicki at this time, the Summons does not designate what Petition or Complaint the summons was pertaining to. It also should be noted that a separate notice of hearing was provided to Vicki's counsel for the hearing on the Rule 65 Motion.

On January 23, 2007, Vicki filed her response to Rusty's Motion for Rule 65, and in it she provides the information under oath required by the Mississippi Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Act and Enforcement Act, and also attaches is a copy of a Petition which had been filed on her behalf in Texas on January 22, 2007, for Modification of Custody as to one of the parties children. A hearing was held on January 23, 2007, which resulted in two (2) orders being entered. The First Order, entered January 30, 2007, directed the Mississippi Department of Human Services to coordinate with the Texas department of Human Services so that a home study could be performed of Vicki's home in Texas. Then on March 6, 2007, the Court entered a Temporary Order in which the Court denied Rusty's Motion for Rule 65 relief and establish certain ground rules for allowing Guardian Al Litem better access to information in regard to the minor child at issue.

On November 27, 2007, Rusty filed his Petition for Citation of Contempt against Vicki, claiming that she failed to pay one half (1/2) of certain Court ordered medical expenses on behalf of the children as well as one half (1/2) of certain college expenses on one (1) of their minor children. On November 28, 2007, Vicki filed her response to Rusty's Petition of Citation of Contempt as well as a Counter-Petition against Rusty for his failure to pay Court ordered child support.

The Court called the matter up for trial on April 4, 2008. Following the conclusion of the trial the Guardian Al Litem filed her report on April 29, 2008, and the Court issued it opinion on May16, 2008.

Vicki filed a Motion for New Trial on May 27, 2008. The Court overruled her Motion on June 9, 2008 and Vicki filed a timely Notice of Appeal on July 9, 2008, bringing this matter before the Appellate Court.

3. STATEMENT OF ALL FACTS

Rusty and Vicki were divorced by a Court Order January 16, 1998 after a long marriage that produced three (3) children. As part of the agreement incorporated into the Irreconcilable Divorce of Decree the parties shared joint-legal custody of their three (3) minor children with Vicki being awarded the primary custody. Vicki and Rusty continued to live in Tishomingo County until approximately January of 1999 when Vicki moved with the three (3) children to Texas (R 28). Andrew, the oldest child, moved back with his father in February of 2001 and other than periods of visitation with his mother has resided with his father in Mississippi since.

Between the time of the Vicki's move to Texas and the trial of this matter Kimberly moved back and forth between the parties, spending years at a time with each (R 29-31). Most recently Kimberly moved back in with her mother in approximately July 2006 and remained there until behavioral problems caused Rusty to come in July of 2006 and pick Kimberly up from Texas and bring her back to Mississippi. Approximately two hours after Kimberly was back in Mississippi Rusty was required to call the police and have Kimberly detained in a juvenile detention facility until a Youth Court proceeding was begun and Kimberly was placed in a behavioral treatment center.

The parties' youngest son, Alexander, had remained with his mother in Texas from the time she had moved in 1999 until a period of extended visitation with his father began in June of 2006. (R 36) It was during this period of extended visitation that Rusty was able to receive the Order granting him granting him emergency custody over all three of the children through the trial court. Following the dissolution of the "Emergency Order"

Alexander was returned to his mother and the parties returned to their previous custody/visitation routine.

SUMMARY OF ARGUEMENT

- 1. The Trial Court committed error by deciding to extend its jurisdiction over the custody determination for Alexander White for the following reasons:
 - a. Rusty failed to make the appropriate disclosures under oath as required by the U.C.C.J.E.A., and as such the Court should have denied jurisdiction over the case.
 - b. The Trial Court committed error in thinking that the Tishomingo Chancery

 Court had the exclusive and continuing jurisdiction over Alexander's custody

 determination, and should have found as a matter of law that because of

 Alexander's residence for the last eight years Mississippi was no longer the

 appropriate state to determine Alexander's custody.
 - c. The Trial Court committed error by not finding Mississippi to be an inconvenient forum under the circumstances, that the Texas is a more appropriate forum, and that the Trial Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction over Alexander's custody determination.
 - d. The Trial Court should have declined to exercise its jurisdiction over Alexander's custody determination because Rusty, the person seeking to invoke the Court's jurisdiction, had engaged in unjustifiable conduct.
- 2. The Trial Court committed error in awarding Alexander's custody to Rusty for the following reasons.
 - d. The Trial Court's finding of material changes in circumstances as to

- Alexander where either unsubstantiated by the evidence, not appropriate, immaterial to Alexander or not reflective of an actual change.
- e. The Trial Court failed to make any specific findings that the changes in circumstances had any adverse effect upon Alexander, and as such rendered any such changes to be "immaterial".
- f. The Trial Court's findings as to those factors enumerated in <u>Albright</u> factors are not supported by substantial evidence, or in the alternative the Court abused its discretion, was manifestly wrong, or clearly erroneous.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF PROOF

For the sake of brevity it is recognized that throughout this brief the scope of appellate review is limited by the substantial evidence/manifest error rule. Samples v. Davis, 904 So.2d 1061, 1063-65 (¶ 9)(Miss. 2004). The Appellate Court will not disturb the chancellor's opinion when supported by substantial evidence unless the chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied. Holloman v. Holloman, 691 So.2d 897, 898 (Miss 1996).

- 1. The Court erred in determining custody of Alexander in that the Court lacked jurisdiction over his custody determination.
 - a. Rusty failed to make the appropriate disclosures under oath as required by the U.C.C.J.E.A.

In 2004 the Mississippi legislature codified the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act (hereinafter referred to as the U.C.C.J.E.A.) in Chapter 27 of Title 93 of the Mississippi Code in an effort to give direction to Mississippi Courts as to how to determine whether a given Court is the appropriate jurisdiction to make a child custody determination. As a provision of the act (§93-27-209) each party to a child custody proceeding is required to provide certain information under oath. One of the apparent purposes of this requirement is to assist the trial court in determining whether the Mississippi court is the appropriate jurisdiction for the determination of the child custody

case. This information may be provided in either the party's first pleading or in an attached affidavit (§93-27-209(1)).

Upon review of the pleadings filed by Rusty in this matter, beginning with his Petition to Modify filed in May of 2003, it is clear that he fails to ever provide the required information with any of his pleadings. Although there are limited (if truly any) cases dealing with the effect of a party's failure to comply with §93-27-209, we find some guidance from cases decided under the prior version of the law which had been codified in the now repealed §93-23-17.

The former §93-23-17 required that certain disclosures be made by parties to a child custody dispute in their initial pleadings (or by affidavit filed at the same time as the initial pleading). In Marr v. Adair, 841 So.2d 1195 (Miss. Ct. Ap. 2003) the Court of Appeals address the failure of a party to timely file the information as required by the statute. In Marr a father attempts to modify the custody terms of a Louisiana Divorce Decree. The Chancellor, although initially granting the father's requested modification, subsequently (upon the mother's request) sets aside his ruling based upon the finding that Mississippi lacked jurisdiction to modify the Louisiana Decree. One of the issues reviewed by the Court of Appeals was whether the father's failure to timely make the disclosures called for by § 93-23-17 affected the Mississippi Court's jurisdiction over the child custody matter. Although the father failed to initially provide the trial court with the disclosures required by §93-23-17, he did subsequently file an affidavit with the required information after the mother had filed her Motion to set aside the trial court's initial Order.

In addressing the question of the lack of timely filing, the Court of Appeals states

Courts that have addressed the issue in other jurisdictions are divided. Having no precedence to follow in our state, we consider the case law of other states. Two out-of-state cases construing the UCCJA disclosure

requirements provide some guidance, although not the answer to the specific issue before us. The first case, <u>Breaux v. Mays. 746 P.2d 708 (Okla.Ct.App.1987)</u>, overruled on other grounds by <u>G.S. v. Ewing. 786 P.2d 65 (Okla.1990)</u>, held that a petitioning party's failure to initially provide the chancery court with the disclosure information required by the UCCJA, either by pleading or affidavit, was not jurisdictional but rather was merely procedural and that the initial failure to provide the information could be cured by amendment. The second case, <u>Cook v. Court of Common Pleas of Marion County. 28 Ohio App.3d 82. 502 N.E.2d 245 (1986)</u>, held that the UCCJA affidavit is a jurisdictional requirement in a child custody proceeding but that the requirement that it be filed with the complaint is considered directory, not mandatory.

¶ 24. It may be concluded from the above cases that timely compliance with the UCCJA disclosure provision upon filing the initial complaint is essential to facilitate a proper determination of the court's jurisdiction but that failure to do so will not necessarily impair the court's exercise of jurisdiction **if appropriately cured by a timely amendment**. Thus, a court may nevertheless validly exercise its jurisdiction if the omitted information is timely supplied by amendment of the pleading or by affidavit annexed to a motion to amend.

Marr v. Adair, 841 So.2d 1195, 1201(Miss. Ct. Ap. 2003) emphasis added

As stated above, Rusty not only failed to comply with the requirements of §93-27-209 in his initial pleading, he also failed to ever provide the information by timely amendment or otherwise. As such, the Trial Court erred exercising its jurisdiction over the child custody modification sought by Rusty.

b. Mississippi had lost the exclusive and continuing jurisdiction over Alexander's custody determination and was no longer the home state of Alexander.

When faced with determining whether a Mississippi Court is the appropriate jurisdiction to determine a modification of child custody matter that was initially considered in Mississippi, the Trial Court is directed by Mississippi Code §93-27-202 that states:

(1) Except as otherwise provided in Section 93-27-204, a court of this

state that has made a child custody determination consistent with Sections 93-27-201 or 93-27-203 has exclusive, continuing jurisdiction over the determination until:

- (a) A court of this state determines that neither the child, nor the child and one parent, nor the child and a person acting as a parent have a significant connection with this state and that substantial evidence is no longer available in this state concerning the child's care, protection, training, and personal relationships; or
- (b) A court of this state or a court of another state determines that the child, the child's parents, and any person acting as a parent currently do not reside in this state.
- (2) A court of this state which has made a child custody determination and does not have exclusive, continuing jurisdiction under this section may modify that determination only if it has jurisdiction to make an initial determination under Section 93-27-201.

The statute creates a two-step process by which the Court is to determine whether or not it has jurisdiction to modify a child custody determination that was initially made by a Court of this state. The first step is to determine whether the initiating Court has lost the exclusive and continuing jurisdiction over the determination. If the Court decides that it has lost continuing jurisdiction, then the Court must decide whether it may still modify the initial custody determination using an analysis under Mississippi Code § 93-27-201.

This issue was one of many raised by Vicki in her Motion to Dismiss filed January 23, 2007. In support of her contention that Mississippi had lost continuing jurisdiction over Alexander's custody determination Vicki points out that Alexander had resided with her in Texas for eight years prior to the beginning of the recent Court hostilities, and that the vast majority of the evidence concerning Alexander's care, protection, training and personal relationships were to be found in Texas. (Record Excerpts, item 8 paragraph 15)

When the Trial Court addressed the issue, the Chancellor stated that he relied

heavily Bell's Rell upon Professor Deborah treatise on Mississippi Family Law, and from his reading of Section 18.10 of Professor Bell's book he determined that "the Court issuing an initial decree has continuing subject matter jurisdiction over the action and continuing personal jurisdiction over the parties. So this Court has jurisdiction." (R. 18) Unfortunately the Chancellor's reading of Professor Bell's book was not thorough enough, because while the first sentence § 18.10(1) of Bell on Mississippi Family Law does support the Chancellor, the section goes on to reflect the language of the statute by saying "However, even if one party remains in the state, a second state may modify the order if the issuing court finds that neither the child, or the child and one parent, have significant connection with the state and that substantial evidence is no longer available in the state." (Deborah H. Bell, Bell on Mississippi Family Law §18.10(1))

The Chancellor erred for failing to consider whether the Chancery Court of Tishomingo County had lost continuing and exclusive jurisdiction over Alexander's child custody determination pursuant with Mississippi Code § 93-27-202(1). Had he performed such an analysis he would have found that neither the child nor one parent (Alexander and Vicki) have a significant connection with this state and that substantial evidence is no longer available in this state concerning the child's care, protection, training, and personal relationships. As was brought out during the trial, because Alexander lived had lived with Vicki in Texas for some eight years the vast majority of evidence about his schooling, medical treatment and friends was in Texas. As such the Chancellor should have determined that the Trial Court no longer had exclusive and continuing jurisdiction over Alexander's custody determination, and should have then, according to the direction of Mississippi Code § 93-27-202(2), looked to Mississippi Code § 93-27-201 to determine if Tishomingo County Chancery Court would now have the jurisdiction over Alexander's custody determination.

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