IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CA NO. 2008-TS-01246 SCT E

VICKI D. WHITE,

v.

JOHN R. WHITE,

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from the Chancery Court of Tishomingo County, Mississippi Cause No. 97-0369

Gregory D. Keenum, Esquire MSB 1

219 West College Street Booneville, MS 38829 Telephone: (662) 728-1140 Facsimile: (662) 728-1340 Attorney for Appellee

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-TS-01246

VICKI D. WHITE,

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

v.

JOHN R. WHITE,

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT IT HAD JURISDICTION UNDER THE UCCJEA TO HEAR THE CUSTODY MATTER.

On December 15, 2006, the trial court held that the court had not had jurisdiction over Vicki at the time it issued the order dated July 20, 2006, awarding emergency custody of the three children to Rusty, and it set that order aside. (Appellant's Record Excerpts ("R.") p. 44.) At that point Alexander, who had just turned twelve, returned to Texas with Vicki.

Rusty then filed a motion under Rule 65, again seeking custody of Alexander. (R. p. 48.) Vicki opposed the motion, and also filed a motion to dismiss on the ground that the court lacked jurisdiction under the UCCJEA. (R. p. 52.) These matters were heard on January 23, 2007, and April 4, 2008. On January 22, 2007, Vicki had filed a custody action in Texas. (R. p. 64.)

Regarding the standard of review applicable to the jurisdiction issue, this court has recently stated: "Whether the chancery court had jurisdiction to hear a particular matter is a question of law, to which this Court must apply a de novo standard of review.' *In re Guardianship of Z.J.*, 804 So. 2d 1009, 1011 (¶ 9) (Miss. 2002)." *Shadden v. Shadden*,

So. 3d ____, 2009 WL 1383480, at *1 (¶ 7) (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (not yet released for publication).

A. The Disclosures Required Under The UCCJEA Are Not Jurisdictional And Were Not Required In The Present Case Because The Information To Be Included In The Disclosures Was Already Available To The Court.

In her appeal, Vicki first argues that Rusty failed to comply with the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. § 93-27-209. That section directs that each party, "in its first pleading or in an attached affidavit," shall give information under oath regarding the child's present address, where the child has lived during the last five years, the names and addresses of the persons with whom the child has lived during that period, and information regarding any other custody proceedings or other persons who might claim a right to custody or visitation with the child.

In the present case, the trial court had already presided over the proceedings in which the emergency custody order of July 20, 2006, was set aside. This was not the first time the court had considered this issue and these parties, and all the information required in the disclosure either was before the court or was not relevant.

In making her argument that the trial court erred by exercising jurisdiction over the custody proceeding, Vicki relied on a Mississippi decision that had been decided under the prior law, the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Act (UCCJA). (Appellant's Br. pp. 13-

14.) Under the prior law there was a split of authority on the question of whether the failure of a party to provide the disclosures deprived the trial court of jurisdiction.

Vicki failed to inform the court, however, that this ambiguity had been eliminated in the revisions contained in the UCCJEA, which was enacted in 2004 and governs these proceedings. Under the revised law, the failure to submit the declarations does not deprive the court of jurisdiction to hear the case.

Paragraph (2) of § 93-27-209 now sets forth the remedy that is available if a party fails

to submit the declarations:

(2) If the information required by subsection (1) is not furnished, the court, upon motion of a party or its own motion, *may stay the proceeding* until the information is furnished.

(Emphasis added.)

In case that language is not clear enough, the Commentary to the Uniform Law from

which this section was adopted states the following:

Subsection (b) has been added. It authorizes the court to stay the proceeding until the information required in subsection (a) has been disclosed, *although failure to provide the information does not deprive the court of jurisdiction to hear the case.* This follows the majority of jurisdictions which held that failure to comply with the pleading requirements of the UCCJA did not deprive the court of jurisdiction to make a custody determination.

Unif. Child Custody Jurisdiction & Enforcement Act § 209, ULA Commentary (emphasis added).

Even in the absence of case law interpreting this section, the language and intent of the revised statute are clear and should have been brought to the attention of this Court by the appellant.

B. Mississippi Had Exclusive Continuing Jurisdiction Over Alexander's Custody Determination.

At the hearing on January 23, 2007, the trial court began by considering Vicki's motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction. (Tr. 1/23/07 p. 3.) Counsel for Vicki first acknowledged the undisputed fact that the Mississippi court had home state jurisdiction at the time of the initial custody order in 1998. (Tr. 1/23/07 p. 4.) She then acknowledged that under Miss. Code Ann. § 93-27-202, titled "Exclusive continuing jurisdiction," the court that had made the initial custody determination had "the exclusive, continuing jurisdiction over the determination" of custody until the occurrence of certain events. (Tr. 1/23/07 p. 4.)

The statute states, rather confusingly:

(1) Except as otherwise provided in Section 93-27-204 [concerning emergency jurisdiction], a court of this state which has made a child custody determination consistent with Section 93-27-201 or 93-27-203 has exclusive, continuing jurisdiction over the determination until:

(a) A court of this state determines that neither the child, nor the child and one parent, nor the child and a person acting as a parent have a significant connection with this state and that substantial evidence is no longer available in this state concerning the child's care, protection, training, and personal relationships; or (b) A court of this state or a court of another state determines that the child, the child's parents, and any person acting as a parent currently do not reside in this state.

Miss. Code Ann. § 93-27-202.

Paragraph (b) is inapplicable to the case because Rusty does continue to reside in this state.

In order to find that it has lost jurisdiction under paragraph (a), the court must find, first, that the child, or the child and one of the parents, have no "significant connection" with this state; and, second, that "substantial evidence" is no longer available in this state regarding the child's "care, protection, training, and personal relationships."

Again, the Commentary to the Uniform Law is helpful:

If the relationship between the child and the person remaining in the State with exclusive, continuing jurisdiction becomes so attenuated that the court could no longer find significant connections and substantial evidence, jurisdiction would no longer exist... The use of the phrase "a court of this State" under subsection (a)(1) makes it clear that the original decree State is the sole determinant of whether jurisdiction continues.

Unif. Child Custody Jurisdiction & Enforcement Act § 202, ULA Commentary.

As clarified by the Commentary, the "significant connection" to be examined is the relationship between the child and the person who has remained in the state that had initially exercised jurisdiction. The decision that was before the court was whether the relationship between Alexander and Rusty was "so attenuated that the court could no longer find significant connections," and whether the court could no longer find substantial evidence in the state related to the child's life and welfare.

Since this decision is left solely to the court that previously heard the matter, it is an exercise of discretion by that court, and will be reversed only if "the chancellor was manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous" or "if he applied an erroneous legal standard." *Smith* v. *Smith*, _____ So. 3d ____, 2009 WL 1451340, at *2 (¶ 6) (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (not yet released for publication).

Vicki has not demonstrated that the trial court erred in concluding that the court had continuing jurisdiction. Although there are no recent Mississippi cases on the issue, the trial court's decision was consistent with Mississippi court decisions prior to the enactment of the UCCJEA. In *Robinson v. Jackson*, 794 So. 2d 290 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001), for example, the court held: "Given that Mississippi was the child's birthplace and place of residence for a substantial part of her early life and was the father's place of residence, we are satisfied that a 'significant connection' within the contemplation of the statute was shown." *Id.* at 292 (¶ 4).

Courts from other jurisdictions that have adopted the UCCJEA have uniformly upheld the exercise of jurisdiction on comparable facts. Examples include *White v. Harrison-White*, 280 Mich. App. 383, 394, 760 N.W.2d 691, 698 (2008) ("[T]he significant connection that permits exercise of exclusive, continuing jurisdiction under [UCCJEA] exists where one parent resides in the state, maintains a meaningful relationship with the child, and, in maintaining the relationship, exercises parenting time in the state."); *Wallace v. Wallace*, 224 S.W.3d 587, 590-91 (Ky. Ct. App. 2007) (reversing a trial court determination that the court lacked continuing jurisdiction, and stating that "clearly under the UCCJEA and even applying

that court's deference to the 'home state' analysis, Kentucky has exclusive, continuing jurisdiction over custody matters pertaining to Cody"); West v. West, 364 Ark. 73, 216 S.W.3d 557 (2005) (although ex-wife and children resided in another state, children had a sufficient connection to forum state, and thus, forum court had exclusive, continuing subjectmatter jurisdiction under UCCJEA); Bjornson v. Bjornson, 20 A.D.3d 497, 499, 799 N.Y.S.2d 250, 252 (2005) ("[C]ontrary to the mother's contention, the record did not support a conclusion that neither she nor the child lacked [sic] a significant connection to New York and that substantial evidence was no longer available in this state concerning the child's care, protection, training, and personal relationships. Thus, the Supreme Court has jurisdiction over the matter under the UCCJEA."); and Fish v. Fish, 266 Ga. App. 224, 226, 596 S.E.2d 654, 656 (2004) ("Based on Jeffrey Fish's continuous residency, the significant relationship he maintains with his children, and the extended custodial visitation of his children in this State, it cannot be said that neither the children nor the parents in this case have a substantial connection with Georgia.").

There is another ground for affirming the trial court's exercise of jurisdiction. At the time of the hearing, Counsel for Vicki acknowledged the ongoing jurisdiction in statements to the court. Counsel stated that "under the UCCJEA, Section 93-27-202, the law bestows exclusive continuing jurisdiction on the state of Mississippi." (Tr. 1/23/07 pp. 3-4.) And again, moments later: "I would submit to the Court that under the UCCJEA, even though Mississippi has continuing jurisdiction, this is not the proper forum to hear issues regarding this child's care, custody and control." (Tr. 1/23/07 p. 5.)

In her appeal, Vicki now claims that the trial court "erred for failing to consider whether the Chancery Court of Tishomingo County had lost continuing and exclusive jurisdiction over Alexander's child custody determination pursuant with Mississippi Code § 93-27-202(1)." (Appellant's Br. p. 16.)

The cases cited above demonstrate that the court correctly concluded that it had continuing jurisdiction to hear the case. However, even if it had been error for the court to fail to consider the issue, Vicki waived the error by conceding it at trial. *Consumers Veneer Co. v. Chestnut*, 210 Miss. 430, 433, 49 So. 2d 734, 735 (1951) (where the answer of one defendant admitted, and the answer of the second defendant did not deny, the right of the heirs to be substituted in the action, the defendants could not claim on appeal that the substituted plaintiffs had no right of action).

The court's exercise of jurisdiction was correct and should be affirmed.

C. The Trial Court Did Not Err In Determining That Mississippi Was The Most Convenient Forum.

Vicki next cites Miss. Code Ann. § 93-27-207, which states that a court "which has jurisdiction under this chapter to make a child custody determination may decline to exercise its jurisdiction at any time if it determines that it is an inconvenient forum under the circumstances and that a court of another state is a more appropriate forum." As restated in the Commentary to the Uniform Act, this section "authorizes courts to decide that another State is in a better position to make the custody determination." Unif. Child Custody Jurisdiction & Enforcement Act § 207, ULA Commentary.

Although there are no Mississippi decisions addressing this issue, it is worth noting that at least one court has held that because "the word 'may' is inherently permissive in nature and connotes discretion," once the court in that case had determined that West Virginia was the child's home state, "the family court was under no obligation to even consider whether Ohio was a more appropriate forum." *Rosen v. Rosen*, 222 W. Va. 402, 409, 664 S.E.2d 743, 750 (2008).

In deciding whether to decline to exercise jurisdiction on this ground, the court is directed by the statute to consider eight factors. Vicki has identified the factors relevant to the present facts.

The first two factors raised by Vicki are "(b) The length of time the child has resided outside this state"; and "(f) The nature and location of the evidence required to resolve the pending litigation, including testimony of the child." Vicki argues that because Alexander has lived in Texas for eight years, that is where the relevant information is, and the court abused its discretion by not declining to exercise its jurisdiction.

The third significant factor is "(h) The familiarity of the court of each state with the facts and issues in the pending litigation." As Vicki acknowledged in her brief, the only prior proceedings in any state were the divorce proceedings that resulted in the 1998 order of divorce. (Appellant's Br. p. 19.) Under this factor, Mississippi is the only state that has any familiarity at all with the facts and issues in the pending litigation.

With regard to the other two factors, in the months before the hearing in January 2007 at which this issue was raised, Alexander had lived and gone to school in Mississippi from June to October 2006. Vicki had then returned Alexander to Texas, where he remained at the time of the hearing on January 23, 2007.

As will be discussed below in the context of the court's decision to modify custody, the issue of whether to modify custody required a comparison and evaluation of Alexander's circumstances in Mississippi and Texas. Under the facts of this case, the circumstances existing in Mississippi are as important as the circumstances in Texas. It is significant in this regard that when Alexander moved to Mississippi in June 2006, both his siblings were living in Mississippi, and his move to Mississippi was the result of his own choice and made with Vicki's consent. (Tr. 1/23/07 pp. 37, 165.)

Vicki has failed to demonstrate that the trial court abuse its discretion either by failing to conduct an analysis under this section, or by refusing to decline the exercise of jurisdiction.

D. The Trial Court Did Not Err By Refusing To Decline To Exercise Jurisdiction Because Rusty Had "Engaged In Unjustifiable Conduct."

On the final jurisdictional issue, Vicki argues that the court was required by Miss. Code Ann. § 93-27-208 to decline to exercise jurisdiction, and it erred by failing to do so.

That section states, in relevant part, that except under specified circumstances, "if a court of this state has jurisdiction under this chapter *because a person seeking to invoke its*

jurisdiction has engaged in unjustifiable conduct, the court shall decline to exercise its jurisdiction." (Emphasis added.) Vicki argues that when Rusty obtained the July 20, 2006, order transferring custody of Alexander to Rusty, the order that was subsequently set aside, Rusty was engaging in "unjustifiable conduct" that obligated the trial court hearing this motion to decline jurisdiction.

As has been discussed above, the Mississippi court had exclusive continuing jurisdiction over the custody issue as a result of the prior custody determination in this state and the ongoing relationship of the minor child with his father in this state. The court's decision to exercise jurisdiction had nothing to do with the fact that Alexander had lived for several months in Mississippi under the order that was set aside.

The predicate for application of this section is simply not present, and this contention by Vicki is frivolous.

II. THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO AWARD CUSTODY OF ALEXANDER TO RUSTY WAS AN APPROPRIATE EXERCISE OF THE COURT'S DISCRETION AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

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